














WORKS BY WILLIAM ANDREWS, F.R.H.S.

. Mr. William Andrews has produced several books of singular value
in their historical and archzological character. He has a genius for
digging among dusty parchments and old books, and for bringing
out from among them that which it is likely the public of to-day will
care to read.—Scotsman.,

Old Church Lore.

The result is in every way satisfactory. Much that is new,
carefully gathered from unpublished documents and other sources,
is interwoven with a fund of anecdote and information that has
never, perhaps, been so readably offered to the general public
before. . . . There is not a dry page or a superfluous para-
graph in the whole book. . . . To the antiquary, as well as the,
general reader, this work will prove useful and instructive.—7%¢
Gentlewoman.

Contains much that will interest and instruct.—Glasgow Herald.
WA'}vell-written work on a deeply interesting subject.—ZEwropean
Mail.

Old-Time Punishments.

This is an entertaining book . . . well-chosen illustrations
and a serviceable index.—A thenaum.

A work which will be eagerly read by all who take it up.—
Scotsman.

A vast amount of curious and entertaining matter.—Skefield
Independent,
P\Ve can honestly recommend a perusal of this book.—VYorkskire

ost.

A very readable history.—Birmingham Daily Gazelte.

Mr. Andrews’ book is well worthy of careful study, and is a
perfect mine of wealth on the subject of which it treats.—FHerts
Advertiser.

Curiosities of the Church.

A volume both entertaining and instructive, throwing much light
on the manners and customs of bygone generations of Churchmen,
and will be read to-day with much interest.—Newdery House
Magazine.

An extremely interesting volume.—Nortk Britisk Daily Mail.

A work of lasting interest.-——H wll Examiner.

Full of interest.—T%e Globe.

The reader will find much in this book to interest, instruct, and
amuse.—Home Chimes.

We feel sure that many will feel grateful to Mr. Andrews for
having produced such an interesting book.—7%e Antiquary.

Historic Yorkshire,

Cuthbert Bede, the popular author of ‘‘Verdant Green,” writing
to Society, says: ‘“Historic Yorkshire,” by William Andrews, will
be of great interest and value to everyone connected with England’s
largest county. Mr. Andrews not only writes with due enthusiasm
for his subject, but has arranged and marshalled his facts and
figures with great skill, and produced a thoroughly popular work
that will be read eagerly and with advantage.

Historic Romance.

STRANGE STORIES, CHARACTERS, SCENES, MYSTERIES, AND

MEMORABLE EVENTs IN THE HisTory oF OLD ENGLAND.

In his present work Mr. Andrews has traversed a wider field than
in his last book, *Historic Yorkshire,” but it is marked by the
same painstaking care for accuracy, and also by the pleasant way in
which he popularises strange stories and out-of-the-way scenes in
English History. There is much to amuse in this volume, as well
as to instruct, and it is enriched with a copious index.—Notes and
Quer ies.

A fascinating work.— Whitekall Review.
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LINCOLN CATHEDRAL. 3

and Lincoln became the seat of a Danish burgh,
and part of the Danelagh.

As the amalgamation of the Saxons and Danes
proceeded, Lincoln became one of the principal
trading boroughs of the country, and an evidence
of its prosperity lies in the very large number of
churches found here at the Conquest.

Under the Norman rule, Lincoln was almost
immediately given special prominence, and affords
us one instance of many where the Norman
policy and strategetic arrangements coincided
closely with those of the Romans. In various
ways the position of Lincoln as a centre of
control was strengthened; a castle was built,
involving the destruction of 240 of Lincoln’s
1070 houses, upon part of the site of the forgotten
station ; while the town was made the seat of a
bishopric.

The founder of Lincoln Cathedral was Remi
(also met as “Romo ” and “ Rumi,” but doubtless
“of Rhein'ls,” and styled in Latin documents as
“ Remigius,”) almoner of the Norman Convent
of Feschamp. His origin is doubtful. Bishop
Godwin says he was the son of a priest ; others
say he was a son of Gerard -Salven, and brother
of Ranulf de Flambard, Bishop of Durham. On
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be conjectured it was shortly before 1075. The
inactive claim to have jurisdiction over the see
of the Archbishops of York, grounded upon
the facts above given, was disregarded, or it
may perhaps have been a factor in the selection
of the site of the new cathedral ; however, that
choice shews a strong faith in Canterbury’s case,
and was justified by the ultimate result, to which
it perhaps lent an influence.

There seems to have been no more than the
usual facility for acquiring the ground. Gilbert
de Gant, a nephew of King William, is credited
with furnishing much of the land, William
D’ Aincourt not improbably contributedsomething,
while the Conqueror himself gave a part of the
site. ~ With regard to the endowment, the
Conqueror was munificent ; he gave the manors
of Welton and Sleaford; the rectories of the
manors of Chircheton (Kirton-Lindsey), Castre
(Caistor), and Wallingour, with rectorial glebes
and tithes, as well as the rent-tithes of the
manors ; and the churches of St. Martin and St.
Lawrence, in Lincoln. He likewise confirmed to
Lincoln what he had given to Dorchester, viz.,
the churches of Bedford, Leighton Buzzard,
Buckingham, and Aylesbury, and the Manor of
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the present ground plan of Lincoln is, in the
main, that of Remi’s Norman cathedral, after the
design of Rouen. All that is now left of his
date is the central portion (without the arcade)
of the west front, hooded over by the later work ;
a recess and arch on the north and south sides of
the west transept; and the font of black
basalt, probably a foreign bargain. This
has bold dragons and lions of semi-Assyrian
character carved on the sides; and on the upper
edge, a five-leaf ornament at the four corners, and
a medallion in the centre of each side.

Without doubt, the remains of foundation at
" the west end shew that Remi’s design was for two
towers. From the general probability, supported
by the existence of grooves, it is evident that the
three sections of the front were surmounted by
gables, a chief point in which Norman and Early
English design had coincidence, outside any
blending of style consequent on transition. The
gables were part of the work removed to make
way for the Early English work, when, also, the
circular head of the central recess was changed to
a pointed arch. There is sufficient trace of the
spring of the circular arch left to be seen below
the trellis work.  The height of the Norman
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arch was seventy-five feet, the effect of the
alteration being the addition of rather more than
one-fifteenth. The Norman masonry is a good
instance of ¢ wide-jointing.” Above the two
inner side recesses, there is a series of interesting -
sculptures, inserted irregularly along the front.

It has been said that these are earlier work,

removed from another building, but they do not

appear to be necessarily so. It is not unusual in

Norman work to find such sculptures inserted: in

a haphazard and, so to speak, abrupt manner;

even in the more cultured Decorated, where life-

designs are so thoroughly and beautifully in-

corporated, this odd “using up” of sculptures is

not infrequently to be noticed. The subjects of
this deeply-sculptured frieze include the Torments

of the Damned, the Descent into Hell, Adam
and Eve Driven from the Garden, the Building

of the Ark, ete.

Remi, it is said, died a day or two before that
upon which he had arranged that the consecration
of the Cathedral should be held, having, it is said,
invoked, by means of a sum of money, the royal
authority to compel the Archbishop of York to
desist from troubling the see with his claim.

Remi had appointed twenty-one secular canons,
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dean, pfecentor, treasurer, seven archdeacons, and
ten ordinary canons, each with his incomed
canonry. The foundation was one of the
thirteen which were served by secular canons.
“ Every stall has produced a prelate or cardinal.”
He founded an hospital for lepers. His was the
principal hand in the making of the Domesday
survey.

To Remi succeeded Robert Bloet, the
Chancellor of Rufus. He postponed the con-
secration till 1094, and vigorously pushed on the
building work. He also erected a monastery at
Stowe, and in the pride of his architectural exploits
made a comparison between that and a monastery
built by the king at Reading, which sealed
against him the door of the royal favour for all
his life. He was persecuted by lawsuits ; but one
of these, in which the king was the chief mover,
resulted, though unfortunately for Bloet, happily
for Lincoln, for Bloet was compelled to buy off
York (with either one or five thousand pounds),
which finally secured the see from York’s claims.
Bloet doubled the number of canons. He was
bishop thirty years, dying in 1123.

The third bishop was Alexander, who not only
proceeded with the building of the Cathedral but
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endured to the present day. The choir, the
chapter-house, the east transept, the east wall, and
perhaps the lower part of the west wall
of the west transept, and some of the
added work of the west front are his. The east
end, as built by him, was apsidal, and terminated
near the high altar. His architect was the
Englishman, Geoffrey de Noiers, and his work at
Lincoln is the earliest specimen of pure Harly
English work in the country.

The choir, like the nave, presents a disagree-
able effect in the ungraceful lowness of the sweep
of its vaulting, while the ribs do not terminate in
the central bosses, giving, where perspective does
not hide part of these defects, a clumsy ill-formed
appearance. Notwithstanding this the choir is a
work of real beauty, and is, moreover, of unique
interest, being, as before said, the earliest example
of Pointed Gothic extant in England. Here the
classic origin of many mediseval forms of archi-
tectural detail is seen in unusual purity, while
there are several indications that the influence of
the Norman style of ornament had not then
(circa 1200) died away.

The comparatively complete state of Lincoln is
particularly noticeable in the great transept, the
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Galilee porch. He also finished the chapter-
house. This is the earliest polygonal chapter-
house in England. It has considerable associative
interest. It was the probable meeting-place of
several Parliaments ; here the Knights Templars
were tried in 1310, and here, in 1536, the leaders
of the Pilgrimage of Grace met in council.

The Early English west front is a wide expanse
of arcade panelling. It has in the centre an
elaborate gable, forming the gable of the nave,
which intersects the west towers. The third
tier from the ground 1is occupied chiefly
by two rose windows, which, of no improve-
ment to the general effect exteriorly, usefully
light two chapels behind. The corners of
the facade are flanked by turrets almost
detached ; these have figures upon their spires—
on the south St. Hugh, on the north the
Swineherd of Stow, a humble individual who is
said, by popular legend, to have be-
queathed a peck of silver pennies to the
work of the building. The surrounding of
the lean Norman arches by this patterned mass of
Early ¥nglish work gives an effect distinctly
incongruous to the purist, but it has withal a

touch of barbaric dignity, as the idea suggested






LINCOLN CATHEDRAL. 15

presbytery to the original choir is considered by
some to be a defect, but it is questionable whether
this is so, as it has not the effect of narrowing
the aspect ; and it may be doubted whether many
observers have received, as their first impression
that which one eminent writer describes, namely,
that the view looking through the inside of the
cathedral is, eastward and westward, little better
than that afforded by ¢looking through a tube.”
There is, moreover, an artistic gain in the
dwarfing of the large windows by the mere fact
of the great distance, and it is surprising to find
that effect pointed out as a blemish.

Linecoln, however,contains one defect, in which it
is similar to a by no means inconsiderable number
of other European churches, small and large. This
is the irregularity of the axis of the church, and
in all cases is doubtless due to the want of due
care in fixing the orientation of new portions at
the time of commencing alterations, the apparent
meridian varying according to the time of year,
The presence of this peculiarity in various churches
has led to the propounding of a far-fetched
theory that, just as the form of the whole
building is symbolic of Christ’s cross, so the
deviation of part of it from one true line is
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it must have suffered a pang in abandoning the
uniformity of the interior. In the triforium the
contraction of the western bays is carried out by
the omission there of one arch from each group
of three arches, which groups run two to each
bay throughout. In the clerestory the space is
saved merely by narrowing the arches, which
there, as elsewhere, are in groups of three. The
nave is forty-two feet wide. There is great
variety in its detail. The arcade on the north
side is supported by shafts detached from the
wall ; on the south side the vaulting shafts are
not detached ; while here there is more sculpture
than on the other side, including a dog-tooth
moulding, which, however, is not part of the
arches, but carved in the wall. Some of the
bosses and crockets here are models of graceful
beauty. A chapel at the north-west corner
has some fine Purbeck marble shafting, the
filleted pillar which supports the vaulting—
standing in the centre, as is seen in chapter-
houses—being very elegant.

The next bishop after Hugh de Wells
was Robert Grosteste, the champion of the
Anglican Church against the aggressions of

Rome. There is no account of building by
C
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Grosteste was bishop from 1235 to 1253, and
was followed by Henry Lexington. Under him
the great work of preparing a place for St.
Hugh’s shrine was commenced. It was decided
to be placed at the extreme east end of the
cathedral ; and to make room for the additional
building, now known as the presbytery or angel
choir, it was found necessary to remove part
of the city wall, which was done by licence of
King Henry 1IV.

One of the most pleasing features of
ecclesiastical history is the readiness and faithful
adherence to plan with which successive
dignitaries took up great architectural works
bequeathed to them. This angel choir was
carried on by Richard de Gravesend, who was
bishop from 1259 to 1279, and at his death
passed forward to Bishop Oliver Sutton, who
had the gratification of completing it, and of
having it opened by King Kdward I. and his
Queen on the 6th October, 1280.

On the tympanum on the exterior of the south
door of the presbytery are some figures which,
though grievously mutilated, bear the impress of
a masterly hand. It cannot be said, however,

that they approach in artistic conception and
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arrangement the magnificent sculptures of the
interior. The subject is the Last Judgment,
with God enthroned, and kneeling angels® of
excellent workmanship, while below is one of the
popular representations of Hell's Mouth, with
Satan stood receiving the lost souls which two
fiends are throwing into the pit.

The angel choir, of some three-quarters of a
century later than St. Hugh’s choir, was wisely
made similar in 1ts general characteristics, though
in the proportions of its elevation and the execu-
tion of its details it is beyond comparison the
superior. The sculptures, which have suggested
the name by which the presbytery is known, are
more than an instance of this superiority, being
without rivals as examples of true art in the archi-
tectural ornament of any known building. They
occupy the spandrils of the triforium, and are em-
phatically sculptures rather than stone-carvings,
being the work of artists rather than masons.
They shew traces of being the work of more than
one hand, some being much better than others;
and were executed before being placed. Though
splendidly congruous, and shewing what Gothic
might have been if art had not been so far behind
architecture, these noble and graceful figures are
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exotics ; perhaps they were executed by some
Ttalian artist, whose name—if we could but know
it—would be familiar to us, and, whether that be
so or no, are the production of genius of the
first order.

The cloisters, which are small and slight,
though charmingly graceful, Bishop Sutton built in
1295. He also erected a wall round the precincts
(the monks being much subject to disturbance from
the ungodly before they had this protection), and
began the court of the vicars choral. Bishop
Sutton practically finished the cathedral. John
D’Alderby, who followed him, built up the
central tower in 1307, completed the cloisters,
with their vestibule from the north transept, the
choir screens, and the Kaster Sepulchre, all of
the Geometric Decorated.

The face of the south transept was rebuilt, its
fine circular curvilinear windows inserted, and the
parapets of the west front and south aisle added,
as well as the organ screen, in 1320-60, a period
which may have been in the time of Henry
Burghersh (1320-40) or Thomas Bek (1342-47).
Bishop Bek was the brother of Anthony Bek,
Bishop of Durham, and he it was who, while
Bishop of St. David’s, defrayed the whole cost
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Some of the chantry tombs are remarkably
fine, those of the Burghersh family being of great
interest.

The dispensary of the cathedral adjoins the
north lesser transept. It was an upper chamber,
but the floor is now gone, and the curious recesses
for drugs are looked up to from the space below.
The windows of this lower room have the
original shutters, bound with iron.

Up to the Reformation, Lincoln was the finest
and richest cathedral in the kingdom. XKing

Henry VIII, in 1540, had removed from it to
his coffers 2621 ounces of pure gold and 4285
ounces of silver, St. Hugh’s shrine of pure gold,
and Bishop (St. John) D’Alderby’s of silver,
besides an immense quantity of precious stones.
There was even then left behind sufficient to
furnish a second plunder, eight years later, when
Bishop Holbech, in his zeal for the Reformation,
gave up all that was left.

In length, east to west, the cathedral is 530
feet, in breadth, from north to south of the great
transept, 227 feet.

The two western towers, St. Mary’s and- St.
Hugh’s, are 200 feet high; with their wood spires

2

which were removed in 1808, they reached 301
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occasionally, to form a very effectual defence.
Have we any remains of British fortifications in
Lincoln ?  Probably not, though certain earth-
works on the Riseholme, the great North Road,
have been assigned to this people by some
authorities.

But, judging from the rectangular character of
these works, the way in which the Roman road
bisects them, their distance from the city (600 or
700 yards) and the extreme probability that the
British would have placed thewr castle where all:
the succeeding nations have, z.e., on the brow of
the hill, these earthworks are either Roman or
erected by Romanized British, to defend their
store of cattle from attack.

The Roman method of fortification was as
follows : every night, when an army was on a
march, a square camp was constructed by forming
a deep and wide ditch, and a rampart on the
inner side of the ditch from the earth thrown up
from it. Then stakes were firmly driven into the
rampart, four gates were made, one in each side
of the square, and the defences were complete.
Their method of fortifying permanently, as at
Lincoln, was just the same, save that the ditch

and earthern rampart were of greater size, and
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the keep and the observatory mounds. All the
earthworks, then, belonging to the present castle,
are almost certainly of Saxon date. They con-
sist of these two circular mounds already
mentioned, both in the line of the outer walls,
and of a nearly continuous earthern rampart,
beginning at the south-west angle, running due
north to the north-west angle, then along the
north side to the north-east angle, and lessening
to the Eastgate, where it stops. It is about
fifty to eighty yards broad, and from twenty to
thirty feet in height, internally, as Mr.
Clark * notes, of easy slope ; externally steep.
On these mounds and earthworks, William the
Conqueror, in 1068, ordered fortifications to be
erected, and in the execution of this order, one
hundred and seventy-six houses were destroyed,
probably because they were situated on the
glacis, or actually inside the castle area. Most
likely these fortifications were of wood (as we
know some of William’s at York were) and later
on they were replaced in stone. At this date,
then, we have left the inner part of the eastern
gate, the western gate or sallyport, and
* See an admirable paper by G. T. Clark, Esq., on Lincoln Castle,

in the Associated Societies’ Reports and Papers for 1876, to which I
am glad to record my acknowledgments.
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walls. A little within it, is the original round-
arched Norman gate. Where the present doors
stand was the groove for the porteullis, the
ancient doors having been fixed about six feet
further west. On the right hand side, on enter-
ing, is seen, fixed in the wall of a modern porter’s
lodge, a very beautiful oriel window brought by
the late Earl Brownlow, for preservation, from
John of Gaunt’s palace * in the lower town. It
dates probably from the time of his daughter (by
Catherine Swynford), Joan, Countess of West-
moreland, who with her mother was buried in the
cathedral.

Passing through the gate, and turning to our
left, we find a large mound, about forty fect
high, capped with buildings, the observatory
tower, which has been already mentioned.
The wall here (as in many other places) shows
evidence of *herring bone” work, that is, flat
stones like tiles placed in rows one above another,
but sloping in opposite directions, like the back-

bone of a fish. In Roman building, this work is

* Opposite the palace is a fine Norman building, really the home of
St. Mary’s Guild, but mis-called John of Gaunt’s stables. Behind
this is a field, greatly used for football, and occasionally for school
treats. A mother of a treated scholar was recently asked where the
festivity was being held ; with a nice sense of not wishing to be too
familiar, she said, ¢ Please, ma’am, in Mr. Gaunt’s Field ! ” But Free
Education will end all tales of this kind,
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groined and vaulted, and may have been an
oratory. There are two gates, the one facing
south-west to the outer slope of the mound, the
other (by which admission is gained) north-east
on to the inner slope. The steps up to this are
modern, but probably replace older ones in the
same place. At the south-west angle of the
castle wall is a new piece of stone-work, evidently
where a large breach has existed. Here the city
west wall joined it, and ran down by Motherby
Hill to Brayford. The sally-port on the west
side much resembles the eastern gate, but it
possesses considerable remains of its barbican,
and it is entirely of Norman date. The only
other building of antiquarian interest left to be
mentioned is the tower at the north-east angle,
called Cobb’s Hall. It is of horseshoe form, with
the curved portion projecting outside the angle of
the walls. It has two storeys, both acutely
vaulted, and with loop-holes commanding the
flanking walls and the country (as it was /) opposite.
The lower one is reached by a trap-door and
ladder, and on some of the stones may be still
seen rude carvings, which, doubtless, have wiled
away some of the many hours of captivity; for

this was, we know, a prison. The roof is reached
D
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A short sketch of the chief historical events
connected with Lincoln Castle will form a fitting
finish to this paper.

But little is known of the very early history of
the castle, till, in 1140, the Empress Maud made
herself master (if the apparent misnomer be
pardoned!) of the city and the castle. Stephen
promptly laid siege to both. The castle was
soon taken by assault, though the Empress had
the good fortune to effect her escape. Then, by
stratagem, William de Romare (who had been
made Earl of Lincoln by King Stephen) and
Ranulph, Earl of Chester, his half-brother,
seized the castle, and held it for the Empress.
Stephen again promptly laid siege to it, and the
Earl of Chester managed to escape, being lowered
over the walls, in this, resembling St. Paul.
He joined the army already in the field under
the FEmpress’s half-brother, Robert, Earl of
Gloucester, who at once marched to the relief of
the beleaguered garrison. According to old
chroniclers, the Earls swam the Trent at the head
of their forces, and attacked Stephen where the
slope of the hill was least, that is, on the south-
west side, where the new-formed Yarborough
Road runs upwards. Stephen, after performing
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revenues of the county. Gerard, however, was a
partizan of Prince John, and stood a siege in the
castle from Longchamp, Chancellor to the absent
Richard. The castle was relieved by John, but
Gerard lost his office and farm in 1194, until
John became king. His widow, Nicholaa, held
the castle for the king against the insurgent
lords. After the war, King John visited Lincoln,
and Nicholaa, then of great age, received him at
the east” (west, according to Mr. W. Brooke)
“ gate of the castle, and offered him the keys, desir-
ing to be relieved on account of her age. John
gracefully requested her to retain the keys, and
she continued in command throughout his reign,
and into that of Henry, his son.” In 1216,
Gilbert de Gant* (who was nephew of a Gilbert
de Gant, Earl of Lincoln, who died in 1156)
seized the city for the Dauphin and the barons,
and laid siege to the castle. ~ William, Earl
Marsechal, in whose hands, after the death of
John, the royal authority was vested, assembled
an army and marched to Newark. There, the
legate of the Pope excommunicated the army of
the Dauphin and the barons, and the whole city
of Lincoln.

* He was made Earl of Lincoln by the Dauphin, Prince Louis of
France.
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kind.* Rich in archaological remains, rich in
history, rich in modern mechanism, rich in its
cathedral, it is yet absolutely poor in the very
thing to bring all these branches of education
together into a focus. And there would be no
difficulty about filling a museum which had been
started. Avrchaological collections, more or less
public, are fairly numerous. First-rate geological,
botanical, and entomological collections could be
obtained without much difliculty to illustrate the
natural history of the district. The same with
birds and beasts. Then the various trades of the
city should have full recognition of their wants,
particularly that of iron and steel work. And
probably there is no place where a museum could
be more easily or more profitably situated than in
those very castle grounds which have been
described just now. It has visitors now, it would
have crowds with a museum within its walls,
especially if local art were to be exhibited, and
we have abundance of local art ; while loans from
South Kensington (such as are lent to the Science
and Art School, Monk’s Road) and from the

* The Science and Art Schools, indeed, have a room open free as a
small museum, to which Bishop Trollope has recently given a most
valuable collection of local Saxon ¢ finds,” and which has contribu-
tions from South Kensington.
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and Kirkstead (a great-grandson of Hugh le
Breton), who died in 1212. His son, also a
Robert, in 1231, obtained a license from Henry
III. to erect a castle of stone here. No remains
of that castle are known to exist now ; it seems
doubtful whether some portions may not have
endured into the early years of the present
century, but this will be alluded to later on.
If these were not so, then probably the first castle
—as far as the masonry at least—was entirely
swept away when the second castle was rising
on its site in all its whilom magnificence. The
grandson of the castle-builder was summoned
to Parliament, in 1297, as the first Baron de
Tateshale, and died in 1298. His daughter, .
Joan, married Robert Driby, and their daughter
married Sir William Bernack. Their son, Sir
John Bernack, married Joan, daughter and co-
heir of Robert, second Baron Marmion of
Widdrington.  This is another link (besides
Scrivelsby, * which, with Tamworth, had been
granted to Robert de Marmion, Lord of Fon-
tenay, by William I., and held by the service
of being the royal champion, as the ancestors

* The parish of St. Michael’s, Coningsby, only a mile away from
Tattershall, also-belonged to the ancient baronial family of Marmion.
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with many other estates, it was granted by
Henry VIII. to his absorbing brother-in-law,
Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk, in 1522, again
by Edward VI. to Edward, Lord Clinton and
Say (afterwards Earl of Lincoln), whose great-
grandson, Theophilus, petitioned Parliament for
a grant, as the tower had been injured during
the civil war; that it continued in the male
line of that family till 1693, when a cousin,
Bridget, married Hugh Fortesque, an ancestor
of the present noble owner, the Harl Fortescue.
So much for the Lords and Ladies of Tatters-
hall, all of my pleasant duty that now remains is to
give the readers some ideas of the past and present
state of this once magnificent fortalice. It was
built, as has been stated above, by Ralph, the third
Baron Cromwell, at a cost, historians tell us,
of 4,000 marks (a mark—13s. 4d.) We can date
its erection, as the late Mr. Nicholson* pointed
out, within a very few years by the heraldry
which forms its most prevalent ornament. = There
are the arms of Tattershall, which might be
used by any Lord of Tattershall since William
I.; of Driby, which would date from the reign
* In an admirable paper on Tattershall, in the Lincolnshire Topo-

graphical Society’s volume, 1843, which has furnished much of value
for this article,
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bridge would give access to the main entrance.
Then separated from the first wall by a second
ditch, would be a second—the inner wall. Both
walls would be strengthened by towers at
appropriate points. Within this inner ward (as
the space inside the inner wall was termed) the
chief living-rooms, the barracks, so to speak,
would stand. Finally there would be the donjon,
or keep, the strongest of the castle-buildings,
built very frequently on a mound,—these mounds
being due in many cases to Saxon engineering
skill,—and capable of itself withstanding for some
time any hostile attack, even though the rest
of the castle was in the enemy’s hands. Those
who have seen Conisboro’ Castle, in Yorkshire,
will have a good idea of a Norman keep.
Tattershall Castle was defended by an in-
complete outer moat, which starting at the
north-east angle, went along the north and west
sides and joined the river Bain: there is still
some water in portions of this ditch. The inner
moat was complete, and the wall surrounding
it is still in fair condition ; it was supplied with
water by a culvert from the outer moat about
the middle of the north side, which is plainly

visible, and which was specially defended by
E
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feet wide, and the parapet of its angle turrets
is no less than one hundred and twelve feet above
the level of the ground at its base. Brick is the
main element in its composition ; there have been
varied patterns in brick-work on its walls, and
some of the groining of brick in the upper
rooms is most delicately moulded, and may well
serve for a lesson to us, even in this nineteenth

century, in artistic workmanship. Stone is used
for the windows, the machicolations, and the

chimney-pieces, which are very fine, and are
ornamented with coats of arms, and the Treasurer’s
Badge. The coping of the battlements, as Bishop
Trollope has pointed out,® is not of stone, as it
appears to be, but of excellent cement. The large
windows, which are quite as evident on the west
or exposed side as on that facing the inner ward,
show that the great change in warfare was in
process, that ¢ villainous saltpetre ” was changing
the type of fortification from a massive tall keep
like Rochester or Conisboro’ to low walled earth-
works such as those which still surround Berwick,
and which were erected in the time of Queen
Elizabeth. Also, these windows show that the

* In a paper on ‘“The Use and Abuse of Red Bricks,” Associated
Architectural Societies’ Reports and Papers, 1858, to which I am glad
to confess considerable indebtedness.
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supplied with loop-holes, runs round partly over
the machicolations (as the holes under the
projecting parapet are called, through which
the defenders could securely pour *boiling oil
or something humorous ”—as the Savoyard poet
sings,—on their assailants when they had reached
the foot of the wall and were out of reach of
ordinary missiles), and the walls, from turret
to ‘turret. In each of these turrets there are
fireplaces, partly no doubt for the warders’
comfort, but chiefly for the prompt supply of
material for the warm welcome which has just
been mentioned. On the south of the inner
court is a large piece of ground, elevated and
surrounded by a stone wall except on its eastern
side, this may have been used for tilting and
other exercises. Eastwards it joins a still larger
portion of ground on the south of the church,
probably the garden of the castle, this is walled
in (with brick) and in the spandrils of a doorway
in the south wall are the arms of Tattershall and
Cromwell, and Deincourt.

About four miles from Tattershall are the
remains of another tower—Tower le Moor—of
the same date and construction (only much
smaller, it was not more than sixty feet high, and
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castle. He takes as an axiom the fact that the
castle was built by William de Romana, at a date
which we may assume to be about a.p. 1100. The
theory which postulates that previous structures
existed before his time is perfectly open. We know
the Romans may have had a station at the spot.
The evidence which identifies the Roman
Banavallum with Horncastle is extremely weak.
We are entitled to assume the existence of
Banavallum, but it may have been at any spot
along the Bane river. It is therefore possible its
situation may have been at Bolingbroke or any-
where else.

The fact that the only opening into the
depression in which stand the ruins of the castle
and village is towards the south and west is a
significant one. The original builder of the
castle selecting a valley on the brook for its site
is a significant one also, but the hills, which are
to the north and east of Bolingbroke, although
near enough to permit modern guns to bombard
and destroy the town, would be far beyond the
reach of mere bows and slings. The access by
water would be easy, and it must not be forgotten
that the water courses get narrower and shallower

as time advances, whereas, in the time of the
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Cromwell’s soldiers destroyed these windows,
and the fire from the castle during the siege
damaged the church. Of the outward events
which led to their destruction, it is now my duty
to speak. Of the battle of Winceby (October
1643), I need say little, although its results led
to the termination of the career of Bolingbroke
as a stronghold. Suffice it to say that the Royalist
army, under the command of Sir John
Henderson, were totally defeated, and the castle
of Bolingbroke surrendered to the enemy. Like
Tattershall, the old fortress was dismantled and
became a ruin, which the Restoration did not
revive. To the east of the lines of former walls
which mark the site of the once proud
Bolingbroke Castle, may be seen traces of the
entrenchments of the Parliamentary army.

During the time of the Georges, the castle
grew worse and worse, till at last the old barbican
was the only relic left. This disappeared in
1815, and so departed the glories of Bolingbroke
Castle.

“ New people fill the land now they are gone,
New gods the temple, and new kings the throne.”

The records of the Duchy of Lancaster are
now in a Whitehall office, and one of the most
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that in panoply, St. George, is but to echo the
suggestion of Poulson. That industrious writer
had an aptitude for falling into error, in which
respect, it may be noted, he was not singular;
yet, in a simple question of judgment, he is nearly
as good to follow as any other antiquary that ever
veiled charta pura with mole-like researches,
especially when one agrees with him.

Yet, on the other hand, that intangible shade,
Tradition,—that haunts the congenial pre-
cints of our ancient churches, filling in with a
shadowy yet confident finger the blanks in all
our draft-like records,—gives names to these two
figures. They are Beaumonts, she says; yet
having but a kaleidoscopic eye for coloured glass,
she shifts her story uncertainly, variously styling
them in one breath, both Henry Lord Beaumont ;
and, in another, calls the palmer Henry, and
the warrior, William.

Not often is garrulous old Tradition without a
basis of fact for her misty stories; it is ill work
to flatly contradict her, and, therefore, remember-
ing how often a modicum of truth has eventually
appeared in her almost absurdities, we, in spite of
our better judgment, incline half an ear to her
explanation of these figures. Perhaps, though
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tolls upon local trade. It is, perhaps, indicative
of a new state of things that almost immediately
after his grant of the Manor of Barton, the king
granted to Henry de Bellomonte a new charter
for a weekly market, and a yearly fair of seven
days’ duration. Twelve years later, Henry
oranted the manor to his sister Isabella, widow
of John de Vesci, for her life. Henry carried an
unjust steward of his, one Adam de Kydale,
into the Court of King’s Bench, at York, for
deficiencies in his account of the rents of Barton.
The amount of damages was large, and suggestive
of an easy-going character on the part ot the lord of
the manor. Upon the whole, there is a dim sugges-
tion of benignness and careless good-nature in
what we can learn of Henry, Lord Beaumont,
that does something towards accounting for
Dame Tradition’s attempt to immemorate him as
the original of the stained glass figures.

“ Langicostro” indicates Eleanor, daughter of
Henry, Earl of Lancaster, whom John, Lord
Beaumont, k.a., Constable of England, married.

Similarly “Oxoniee” points to Margaret,
daughter of John de Vere, Earl of Oxford, who
was married to Henry, Lord Beaumont, who died
in 1413
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late President of the Anthropological Society of
London, whose “ Ludus Patronymicus” has been
for years the text book on the subject.

My friend Dr. Carter Blake, late secretary
to the Anthropological Society of London, has
also kindly aided me. We may take the members
of the families, Kaland, Chatterton, Brooks,
Hand, Fowler, Spring, Skelton, Sheriff, and
~ Ironmonger as dark-haired individuals, where
names are certainly derived from Anglo-Saxon
origin. With these we may associate the fair-
haired population, comprising the Clarksons,
Thorndykes, and Rowsons. Other elements exist,
Watson (D) and Adlard (D) are German,
Maughan (F) is Welsh. Thompson (F) Syriac,
Allbones (D) Latin, and Dennis (D) Greek =
Awvvoos are probably mere Kultur-namen, after
saints or martyrs, and the same applies to
Adams (F) where the Hebrew root is per-
petuated, doubtless as a Biblical name. Orry
(F) is from a Keltic root, derived directly from
v—3, Blakie (D) is Scotch, Baggallay /(F) is Scotch
or Gaelic, and Panton (F') is French. Only Storr
(D) is Scandinavian. We see thus, taking
twenty-nine families at random, that sixteen

of them are certainly of a dark complexion,
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favourably with any county in England. In the
north-east, among the Wolds especially, there
are snug little hamlets, nestling under the
shadows of the chalk hills, sheltered by magni-
ficent trees, fringed by meadow and cornland, and
possessing a beauty peculiarly their own. There
are isolated villages, approached by winding
lanes, with their flower-covered banks, and hedges
of hawthorn. Antiquated-looking buildings peep
out of their woody surroundings, grand old-
fashioned farm houses, with their yards crowded
at times with noble-sized stacks of corn, teams of
well-fed and well-groomed horses slowly moving
here and there, on farms which can boast a
thousand acres of tilled land, streams or “ dikes”
teeming with pike and eels, pastures dotted over
with sheep and cattle, or well-tilled fields rich
with waving corn. In places such as these, rural
life goes on and old-world customs are followed,
as they were a century ago, unshaken by the
express speed of our times, and affording an
agreeable change from the keen competition and
the hurry and bustle of towns.

Nor are the lowland parts of the county with-
out their special beauty and their rich variety of

animal and plant life. The county holds a fore-
G






Sy T — AP PTT P B P A Pt T GV TW ERTEAW FEE AT TR Y o

BELIEFS AND CUSTOMS. 83

belief that the sun can only be seen at midday,
that saltmarsh and bog make up its acreage, that
ague and malarial fever are as common as measles,
that its people are amphibious, and that there is
nothing attractive within its limits, will give
place to a truer conception, and a just estimate
of what is its real beauty and worth.

As in all agricultural districts, where the
means of locomotion are comparatively small, and
the opportunities of mind rubbing against mind
few and far between, the people think slowly.
It does not require a surgical operation to get an
idea into a fenman’s head, as it is said to do In
the case of a Scotchman with regard to a joke ;
but a new idea enters into his mind with difficulty,
though, having once seized upon it, you cannot,
without extreme difficulty, dispossess him of it.
The “oldest inhabitant” has his ‘gospel” of
beliefs and village traditions, to which he clings
tenaciously, and which the enlightenment of the
nineteenth century has not yet- been powerful
enough to remove. The power of the “evil eye,”
witches who turn themselves into hares, fairies
who frequent the fields and dance their midnight
rounds, ghosts who walk the earth till cockcrow,
are as real to him, and perhaps more so, than the
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name are rather looked upon as ornaments than
otherwise. It i1s not so with the raven. He can
trace his pedigree back to antediluvian times, but
he carries with him his bad name still. In the
Mosaic Law, he 1is called unclean (Lev.,
ix., 15, Deut. xiv., 14). The writer of the
Proverbs speaks of his bad habits (Prov., xxx., 7).
The prophet, when wishing to depict in strong
colours the desolation which was coming upon
the land of Idumea, alludes to the solitary habits
of this weird bird (Isa.,, xxxiv.,, 11). The
Romans called him nfausta cornie, and because
he looked preternaturally wise, they dedicated
him to Apollo, as a bird of divination, and looked
upon him then, as the Lincolnshire wife looks
upon him now, as a messenger of bad luck, and
sometimes a prognosticator of death. Climatic
changes don’t kill him. He braves alike the
bitter cold of the Arctic regions, or the fierce
heat of the torrid zone. He is as much at home
in all climates as the Wandering Jew, and, like
him, some people believe he never will die.

But where did that ploughman’s wife learn all
this? He belongs, we are told by naturalists, to
the great and widespread and ancient family of
the corvide, which are nearly all omniverous and
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is marred by its clothes being put on over its head
instead of being drawn upwards over its feet ; and
if the mother wishes to ward off evil from the
sleeping babe, she must never allow her hands to
be idle while she rocks the cradle.

At the christening it is necessary that a boy
should first be placed in the arms of the priest
(and in Durham and Northumberland there is at
times an unseemly wrangle to secure this), other-
wise the girl will be blessed with a beard and
hairy face, which should have been the boy’s chief
adornment.

For the child to sneeze during the ceremony is
unlucky, but to ery is good, inasmuch as it is a
sure sign that the old Adam is being driven out.

At confirmation the candidate must not receive
the left hand of the bishop, for the same reason
that the maid must not take the last piece of
cake—the certainty of remaining a maid unto the
end of her life. It is doubtless to humour this
prejudice, as well as to conformn to the rubric, that
the bishop places both hands upon the head of
those he confirms.

As the days pass, the young man and woman
become inquisitive as to whom their future
husband or wife shall be.
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formerly isolated, since it belongs to what was
an extra-parochial farm, at the north-west corner
of Ranceby, sometimes returned with the parish of
Cranwell, sometimes with that of Leadenham ;
but latterly (under the Act, 20 Victoria, cap. 16)
constituted a separate parish in its own right.

Close by the entrance gateway to this farm-
house, on the road side, is a block of stone, such
as not uncommonly may be seen near old houses
of the kind, forming two steps, from which a rider
mounted his horse. This stone is inscribed with
the two words “ Byard’s Leap.” They are some-
what enigmatical, and we propose here to put
forward an interpretation of them.

Other spots besides this have acquired some-
what similar designations, owing to circumstances
connected with them “in days of yore.” Thus we
have in Middleton dale, in Derbyshire, “The
Lover’s Leap,” a high rock, from which a love-
sick maiden, as it is said, in her despair on finding
her love not requited, cast herself down into the
abyss below (circa 1760), and, strange to say,
sustained little injury. Again, a lofty precipice
on one of the headlands, called ¢ The Sutors
of Cromartie,” in Scotland, has been named,

for nearly 200 years, “The Caithness man’s
H
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Queen Bess,” even a reverend Prelate, Bishop
Jewel, when preaching before her majesty, could
declare from the pulpit, that in her ¢ Grace’s
realm, witches and sorcerers had, of late years,
marvellously increased,” and although we, in the
closing years of this 19th century, plume ourselves
upon being wiser than those who have gone before
us, yet, as recently as in the year 1858, a
labourer’s daughter, in Kssex, accused an old
woman of having bewitched her, and the overseers
of the Union publicly recognised her case as one
of veritable sorcery. ‘

Indeed, it is not difficult to account, in some
degree, for this widespread belief existing in
former times. When there were few, if any, of
the books, such as our educational system now
brings to the humblest cottage, wherewith to
while away the long winter evenings, the Tale-
teller was in great requisition; and the ofttold
narrative, almost naturally, would grow more and
more marvellous in its details on each repetition of
it. Hogarth’s famous picture, of “The Propagation
of a Lie” was true to nature. As some one has said,
“the old folk wagged their heads, and the young
their tongues;” till the smallest incidents were
magnified into mystery; and the rude fancy of






e BT AR Rl Ea S RS ¢ N I IR AR ST LA A AR AT TR R

THE LEGEND OF BYARD'S LEAP. 101

dismissed from their service for purloining victuals.
Their eldest son, Lord Ros, is said to have been
“taken sick in astrange manner, and died ;7 Lord
Francis, his brother, was “ severely tormented ;”
Lady Catherine, their sister, became subject to
fits ; and the Earl and Countess were so affected
that they could have no more children. And
not only was this the common bruit of the
vicinity, but at Bottesford, their burial place,
where there is a monument representing the Earl
and Countess and two children, who were
supposed to have been bewitched to death”
(note 4), the full particulars were given in an
old book which used formerly to be shewn to
visitors by the sexton at the church. The two
daughters of the witch were executed at Lincoln
for witcheraft, on March 11th, 1618-19; and the
witch herself, after uttering an imprecation against
herself, by wishing that the bread and butter
which she ate might choke her if guilty,*

*This form of imprecation was of very old date. The swallowing
of a piece of bread without choking was an old ordeal to test the guilt
or innocence of a party suspected of any crime. And hence, Du Cange
tells us, arose the expression, ‘‘ may this piece of bread choke me, ete.”
Ingulphus and other old Chroniclers state that Earl Godwin,
being suspected by Edward the Confessor of having murdered his
brother Alfred, and some words to that effect having fallen from the
King while Godwin was dining with him at Winchester, the Earl assert-
ing his innocence said, ‘ May this bread which I am about to eat choke
me if I had any hand in that. murder!” He ate the bread, but, in
attempting to swallow it, was choked, and died at the King’s table.
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immediately fell down dead, as she was being
taken to Lincoln jail, and was buried at Ancaster,
within three miles of the scene of our legend.
But to return to “Byard’s Leap” :—It is
situated in the midst of what was once a lonely
tract of high land, almost a waste, extending for
many miles, and called Ancaster Heath. Possibly
its loneliness may have made its sparse inhabitants
somewhat behind their age, and may have
fostered in their benighted minds a brooding
spirit, favourable to a belief in the marvellous.
Be that as it may, the following particulars are
the result of careful enquiry, and may be deemed
worth preserving, in an age when old-time
traditions are being rescued from the oblivion
which would otherwise speedily engulf them, in
these days of rapid progress and enlightenment.
The pedestrian who follows the footpath which
runs along the Kastern side of the great Roman
highway, will observe, at a distance of some
fifty yards northwards from the farmhouse of
Byard’s Leap, and near a pond by the roadside,
four very large iron horse shoes, embedded in
the soil. If he measures the distance of these
shoes from the pond he will find that it is twenty
paces, or sixty feet, and sixty feet was the length
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of Byard’s Leap. We are not aware that there
is any case on record of a horse having leaped
that distance; about half that extent being
usually considered the most that a horse can
cover in one bound.* Consequently something
very unusual must have occurred to incite the
horse Bayard to make such a spring. What that
occurrence was, my tale is supposed to unfold.
Opposite the farm of “ Bayard’s Leap,” is a
plantation ; not a gloomy wood, whose recesses
we might expect to find the haunt of the super-
natural, but consisting chiefly of trees of recent
growth ; but probably there formerly existed an
older growth, whose pristine shades were more
adapted to harbour weird spirits. Within that
wood, inhabiting, as is said, a cave, but more
likely a deserted quarry of the famed Ancaster
stone of the district (such places of abode being
still used), there lived the pest and terror of the
country side in the person of an old woman, known
far and wide as, par excellence, the witch. How
long ago she flourished we are not told; but
inasmuch as the horse connected with our story

was named Bayard, and that soubriquet was

* We believe that the greatest leap on record is that of Chandler, in
the Leamington steeplechase, now several years ago ; who cleared the
great distance of thirty-three feet.
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the witches common mischief-working powers, as
given by various authorities. At one house she
asks for a pot of ale. The ale is given her, but
proves to be sour. She leaves the house
indulging in a flood of imprecations, and the next
day the dairymaid is six long hours in churning
before she can get the butter to come, and then
it will not “set.” A man shoots at a black cat,
which comes in his way as he is returning home
in the evening from his sport. The creature
turns round and spits at him: and then he
recognizes the visage of the old hag in its face;
and of course it goes off with a charmed life ; but
the following night he finds his horses in the
stable trembling and in a cold sweat, although
they have done no work. If the urchins in play
point at her and call her names, they are sure to
go home to their mothers crying with the tooth-
ache, or otherwise affected. One farmer’s wife
declares that for a whole week all her hen’s eggs
were addled, because she had given the old
woman buttermilk when she asked for milk. Cows
drop their calves, sows farrow their litters before
their time. The servant girls, talking of their
sweethearts’ merits, late at night, when they

ought to be asleep, see the old woman grinning
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before anything comes of it; the main difficulty
being, Who us to bell the cat? At length, a child
bhaving been still-born in a cottage from which
the old woman had been turned away without re-
ceiving what she asked for, the indignation ripens,
and a plan is proposed, by which it is hoped that
the witch’s power may be put an end to, while the
act shall seem to be of her own originating. The
shepherd of the farm has been on something like
intimate terms with the old woman, occasionally
paying her a visit, and, as is surmised, himself
having had illicit dealings with her, the result,
however, to himself being that closer acquaint-
ance with her has in no wise enkindled affection ;
and although he is afraid to “break” with her,
for fear of the consequences of her resentment,
he would yet greatly rejoice, as would many others,
if he could terminate the unpleasant thraldom of
her influence.

To attain this end, then, a scheme is devised
as follows, rude in its conception, but, as the event
proves, sufficient for its purpose. They all make
up their minds, in the homely phrase of the
locality, “to get shut of her.” By a sort of
lottery, the shepherd is selected for the enter-
prise. He is to lead out the farm horses to
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situated in part of the ditch of the old Roman
Castrum of that ancient place, he prays that the
horse best suited for his purpose may give some
token ; whereupon the steed Bayard tosses his
head, and neighs his readiness for the enterprise.
The knight, riding forth, soon sees a mysterious
light proceeding from a deep recess in a rock;
and, as he passes it, he is attacked by a strange
wild-looking creature with flaming eyes, stream-
ing locks, and talon-like claws. In vain he
strikes about him with his trusty sword, while
his weird antagonist deals him many a lusty
buffet. At length, by a tremendous blow, he
succeeds in wounding her, but his weapon is
broken in the effort. The hag, maddened by
pain, springs on the horse’s back behind him, and
buries her claws deep in the flesh of man and
beast. They fly; and the knight, remembering
the charm against witcheraft, which attaches to the
cross, like Tam-o-Shanter making for “ the Key-
stane o’ the brig,” steers his steed for the cross-
roads ; and, as the horse bounds over the point of
juncture, the witch relaxes her hold, and falls
dead to the ground; the spot being henceforth
called ¢ Bayard’s Leap.”  This version the

compiler of the above ““Legend” is inclined to
I


















ROBERT DE BRUNNE. ; 119

was also the birthplace of one of whom there is
less reason to be proud, the Rev. Dr. William
Dodd, author of some esteemed works, who was
executed for forgery on the Earl of Chesterfield, in
1777. From his assumption of the name of “de
Brunne ” this monkish chronicler has obtained the
reputation of having been a native of Lincoln-
shire. His biographers generally, and Lincoln-
shire writers as a rule, maintain that he was born
at Bourne, even Edward A. Freeman, the famous
and accurate historian, in a paper, entitled
“ Lindum Colonia,” read before the Lincolnshire
Architectural Society in 1875, and since printed
in his “English Towns” (p. 220) has fallen into
the same error, writing: “And even if I have
robbed the Bourne man of one worthy”
(Hereward) “ I have another to give him instead.
It was a Lincolnshire man, a Bourne man,
(Robert de Brunne) who gave the English
language its present shape.” He may fairly be
claimed as a Lincolnshire man, as he resided
there the greater portion of his life, and at
Brunne wrote his chronicles and poems, but still
he was not a native. His name was Robert
Mannyng, and he was born at Malton, in
Yorkshire, circa 1270, and was brought up and
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great man was Robert Mannyng, but. being, as I
believe, born at Malton, in Yorkshire, he was
from hence frequently called Robert of Malton.
He had been at Brunne about fifteen
years when he began to translate the ‘ Manuel de
Peches,” and ’twas more than thirty. after that
before he finished his task about Peter de
Langtoft. After he became famous, he was
generally called Robert de Brunne, which was
occasioned by his living so long in the Priory.”
Madden writes :—*“ Not Canon of Brunne, but
born there, for he calls himself “of Brunne,” soon
after 1303 and in 1338. From 1288 to 1303 he
was in the priory of Sempringham, then removed
to Brynnwake (Brunne) six miles distant, where
he wrote the prologue to his first work: the
interval is not accounted for: after this, till
1327-38, when he composed the translation of
Langtoft, and during that period was a short
time in the house of Sixhills, the Prior of which,
Dan Robert of Malton, caused the work to be
undertaken: my interpretation:—‘My name is
Robert Manyng, now of Brunne, but was awhile
at Sixhills, where you knew me as Dan Robert of
Malton, where I wrote this for felawes’ sake, with

which to make merry with songs and recitations.””












ROBERT DE BRUNNE. 125

the Hours of the Passion,” by Cardinal Bonaven-
ture, the Seraphic Doctor, drawn into English
verse by Robert Mannyng, of Bourne, edited from
the MSS. in the British Museum and the Bodleian
Library, Oxford ; with Introduction and Glossary,
by J. Meadows Cooper, r.r.H.8., Harly English Text
Society, 1875. Bonaventure’s title was “ De Ceena
et Passione Domini, et psenes S. Marie Virginis,”
and Mannyng’s ran thus :—“ Meditacyons of the
Soper of our Lorde Jhesu and eke of the Peynes
of hys sweete Modyr Mayden Marye, the whyche
mad yn Latyn Bonaventurse Cardynall,” in which
the translator took great liberties with the text,
introducing much matter of his own.

‘“ Her bygenet a treatys that ys yclept ¢ Castel
of Love that Biscop Grosteyst made ywis for

»r»

lewde men by Love. An edition of 100 copies
was privately printed, entitled “ A translation of
Grosteste’s (Bishop of Lincoln) ¢Chateau d’
Amour,” by J. O. Halliwell, 1849.”

“Robert de Brunne’s ‘Handlyng of Synne’
(written A.p. 1303), with the French Treatise on
which it is founded, ¢ Le Manuel des Pechiez,’ by
William of Wadington; now first printed from
MSS. in the British Museum and Bodleian

Libraries.  Edited by Frederick J. Furnival,
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Rutland, his Countess, and their two sons, Henry
and Francis, which attracts more than ordinary
interest, from the story attached to it in the
church books. An extract therefrom, with the
spelling modernised, is given in Burke’s “Anec-
dotes of the Aristocracy.” When the Right Hon.
Sir Francis Manners succeeded his brother Roger
in the earldom of Rutland, and acquired possession
of Belvoir Castle, and of the estates belonging to
the earldom, he took such honourable measures
in the course of his life, that he neither discharged
servants nor denied the access of the poor; but,
making strangers welcome, he did all the good
offices of a noble lord, by which he obtained the
love and goodwill of the country, his noble
Countess being of the same generous and
honourable disposition. So that Belvoir Castle
thus became a continual place of entertainment,
especially to neighbours, where “Joan Flower”
and her daughter were not only relieved at the
ﬁrst,vbut Joan was also admitted charwoman, and
her daughter Margaret as a continual dweller in
the Castle, looking to the poultry abroad, and
the wash-house at home ; and thus they continued
until found guilty of some misdemeanour, which
was discovered to the lady. The first complaint
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against the mother was that she was a very
malicious woman, full of oaths and irreligious
imprecations, and as far as appeared, a plain
Atheist ; as for Margaret, she was frequently
accused of going from the Castle, and carrying
provisions away in unreasonable quantities, and
returning at such unseasonable hours that they
could not but conjecture at some mischief
amongst them, and that their extraordinary
expenses tendered both to rob their lady, and
served also to maintain some debauched and idle
company which frequented Joan Flower’s house.
This state of things went on for some considerable
time, when the Countess of Rutland having dis-
covered other indecencies in the life of her servant
Margaret, at length discharged her from the
Castle, but in a kindly manner ; giving her at her
dismissal, as the Church record tells us, “ forty
shillings, a bolster, and a mattress of wool.” The
Flower family appear to have been of a very
revengeful disposition ; and we are informed that
after a while the Earl’s household became sen-
sible of their malicious and wicked influence.
“First,” proceeds the sfory, “the Karl's eldest
son, Henry, Lord Ross, was taken sick after a

strange manner, and in a little time died ; and after
K
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The test appears to have been, to return to our
story, fatal in the case of Joan Flower, for ¢ upon
mumbling of it, she never spoke more, but fell
down and died, as she was carried to Lincoln
gaol, being extremely tormented both in body and
soul, and was buried at Ancaster.” The examina-
tion of Margaret Flower, which took place on
the twenty-second of January, 1618, we shall
re-produce as given by Burke from the account
in the Bottesford Church books.

“ She confessed that about four years since her
mother sent her for the right-hand glove of
Henry, Lord Ross, and, afterwards, her mother
bid her go again to the Castle of Belvoir, and
bring down the (other?) glove, or some other
thing of Henry, Lord Ross; and when she asked
her for what, her mother answered, ‘To hurt my
Lord Ross.” Upon which she brought down the
glove, and gave it to her mother, who stroked
Rutterkin (her cat, the imp) with it, after it was
dipped in hot water, and so pricked it often;
after which, Henry, Lord Ross, fell sick, and,
soon after, died. She further said that, finding
a glove about two or three years since of Francis,
Lord Ross, she gave it to her mother, who put it
into hot water, and afterwards took it out, and
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rubbed it on Rutterkin (the imp), and bid him go
upwards, and said, ‘a mischief light on him, but
he will mend again.” She further confessed that
her mother and her [self| and her sister agreed
together to bewitch the Earl and his lady, that
they might have no more children; and, being
asked the cause of this their malice and ill-will,
she said that, about four years since, the Countess,
taking a dislike to her, gave her forty shillings, a
bolster, and a mattress, and bid her be at home,
and come no more to dwell at the Castle; which
she not only took ill, but grudged it in her heart
very much, swearing to be revenged upon her;
on which her mother took wool out of the
mattress, and a pair of gloves, which were given
her by a Mr. Vovason, and put them into warm
water, mingling them with some blood, and
stirring it together; then she took them out of
the water, and rubbed them on the belly of
Rutterkin, saying, ¢the lord and lady would have
children, but it would be long first.” She further
confessed that, by her mother’s command, she
brought to her a piece of the handkerchief of the
Lady Catharine, the Farl's daughter, and her
mother put it into hot water, and then, taking it
out, rubbed it upon Rutterkin, bidding him, ‘fly
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and go;’ whereupon, Rutterkin whined, and cried
‘mew, upon which, the said Rutterkin had no
more power of the Lady Catharine to hurt her.

“ Margaret Flower and Phillis Flower, the
daughters of Jane [Joan] Flower, were executed
at Lincoln for witcheraft, March twelfth, 1618.

“ Whoever reads this history, should consider
the ignorance and dark superstition of those
times, but certainly these women were vile,
abandoned wretches, to pretend to do such
wicked things.

“¢Seek ye not unto them that have familiar
spirits, nor wizards, nor unto witches, that peep
and that mutter : should not a people seek unto
their God ¥—Isaiah viii. 19.”

So, with a quotation from Holy writ, en-
deavouring, according to the time-honoured rule,
to point the moral of the tale, ends the Bottesford
record of the ‘“ Witches of Belvoir.”

But the story, as given in the book of the
sepulchral Chapel of the illustrious Manners
family, leaves out some interesting particulars.
These are supplied by a contemporary pamphlet,
reprinted in Nichols’s “ Leicestershire.” Associ-
ated with the Flowers in their horrible practices
were three other women of the like grade of life—
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propelling power, and knew little or nothing of
modern science, they had a marvellous intuitive
perception of the beautiful in art, and evolved
the noble Gothic order of architecture, with all
its sacred symbolism, examples of which are so
profusely scattered over our land, either complete
or in ruin, the remains of the erewhile magnificent
Thornton Abbey, standing as a representative of
the old monk’s taste and skill on the southern
shore of the Humber.

The country in which the Abbey is situated is
historic ground. The river Humber, flowing
nearbye, has afforded a passage into the interior
for many a hostile fleet, mainly of Danes and
Norsemen, and many a battle has been fought on
these shores between the Saxons and the Danes,
resulting eventually in the latter gaining the
supremacy in Lincolnshire, and settling there in
vast numbers, which is evidenced by the great
number of villages in the district which were re-
named by them, with the Danish terminal by.
The famous and decisive battle of Brunanburh,
the site of which is not known, and has been the
cause of much controversy, is said in Ethelward’s
Chronicle to have taken place at Brunandene,
which the editor pronounces to be Brumford, or
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century. It was at Thornton, too, that the
lady, Mrs Skinner, dwelt whose daughter was
drowned in crossing the Humber from Hull in a
storm, along with the Rev. Andrew Marvell,
Viecar of Hull, and father of Andrew Marvell, the
patriot, to whom she had been paying a visit, and
who (Mrs Skinner) a lady of property, being
thus rendered childless, sent for young Marvell
from Cambridge, and made him her heir.

The founder of the Abbey was William le
Gros, Earl of Albemarlé, Lord of the Seigniory
of Holderness, and in right of his wife, Lord of
the Honour and Castle of Skipton in Craven.
His territorial possessions, paternal and jure
uxoris, in Yorkshire, Lincolnshire, Cumberland,
and other counties, were on a most extensive
scale, rendering him one of the most powerful
and wealthy of the northern nobles. He was
bornin 1119, and succeeded his father, Stephen, in
the Earldom, who was concerned in conspiracies
against Henry I., in which he disappeared; but
the date is not known. He (William) held a
chief command at the battle of the Standard,
1188, when David of Scotland was defeated, and
adhered to Stephen in his contest with the
. Empress Maud, fighting under him at the Battle



140 BYGONE LINCOLNSHIRE.

of Lincoln, 1140-1, where the King was defeated
and captured, the Earl narrowly escaping the
same fate. He rebuilt the Castle of Scarborough,
of which place he was Governor, on the ruined
site of an ancient fortress, and, in the reign of
Henry I1., was appointed seneschal of Normandy,
and being a poten.t and able man was entrusted
with many important Offices of State, married
Cecily, daughter of William Fitz Duncan, nephew
to Malcolm, King of Scotland, by Alice, daughter
of Robert de Romilé, Lord of Skipton, by whom
he had issue :—

Hawyse, his heiress, who married William de
Mandeville and two others, who afterwards
became successively, Earls of Albemarles, j.u.

Anmicia, who married one Aston or Eston,
from whom descended John de Eston, who
claimed the Earldom of Albemarle on the death
of Aveline de Fortibus, sixth Edward 1.

The Earl died after an active and vigorous life,
in 1179, and was buried with great honour and
respect in his Abbey of Thornton.

William le Gros was as distinguished for his
foundation of monasteries and benefactions to the
church as he was for his military enterprises, and
skill in warfare—‘ De prima fundatione ejusdem
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and the Divine. Infant seated on her lap: with
what remains of the legend—*. . . gillvm. sce.
Marie. de Thorneton.”

A colony of monks, with brother Richard at

their head, migrated hither, from Kirkham, near

Malton, Yorkshire, who took possession of the
cells, and Richard was elected their first Prior.

{
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THORNTON ABBEY.

From the first it received some very liberal
donations from other benefactors, and in con-
sequence it was converted, in 1148, from a
Priory into an Abbey ; which benefactions were
enumerated in the ‘Carta Regis Ricardi Primi,
Donatorum et Concessiones, recitans et con-
firmans,”
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and costly reception and magnificent banqueting.
This was probably a politic act on the part of the
fraternity, in order to curry favour with the
King, who, they saw, was then appropriating to his
own purposes the revenues and lands of the
monastic houses, and in the issue it proved
successful, as after the surrender of the house,
with its revenue of somewhat over £700 per
annum, equal to twenty times its value of present
money, mindful, perchance, of his sumptuous
entertainment and the courtly attentions of the
Abbot and brethren, instead of altogether
suppressing the Abbey, he converted it into a
collegiate establishment to the honour of the
Holy and Undivided Trinity, with a dean and
nineteen prebendaries, and applied the greater
part of the Abbey lands for its endowment. It
had not however a long period of existence, being
dissolved on the first of the following reign
(1546-67), and the site granted in exchange
to the Bishopric of Lincoln.

From the Pension Book in the Augmentation
Office we find that the following pensions were
“assigned by the King’s commissioners to the late
Chanons, to be paid vnto them duringe their
Lyves at the feasts of th’ annu’ ciacion of ’or Lady
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safety of his castle, and the welfare of his wife
and friends, for he doubted whether the defences
could be maintained against the repeated attacks
of the active and determined monarch. In this
strait he sallied forth, under cover of night,
passed through the lines of the beleaguring army,
repaired to the Earl of Gloucester, and apprised
him of the perilous position of the castle and its
garrison.

Ralph de Gernons had espoused the Earl of
Gloucester’s daughter, and her perilous position
no doubt influenced the nobleman in adventuring
his life for the relief of the fortress. The force
that could be assembled at so short a notice,
and during the winter season, was necessarily
small, but the two earls acted with the energy
and promptitude demanded by so important a
crisis, and mustering their vassals and friends,
and a body of auxiliary Welshmen, they marched
upon Lincoln.

Stephen trusted too confidently to the natural
defences of his position, which was flanked by a
rivulet and morass, but the army of relief passed
these obstacles without loss or disorder, and
offered battle to the better appointed and more
numerous army of the King.
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was urging the pursuit with more zeal than
discretion, he exposed his disordered ranks to
the attack, and was taken in flank by the Earl
of Chester, who charged through his squadrons,
and drove them in irretrievable confusion from
the field.

The English refugees, casting their lances away,
spurred, sword-in-hand, upon Stephen’s remaining
wing ; but these cavaliers, influenced by either
cowardice or treachery, declined the combat, and
fled in confusion from the field, leaving Stephen
at the head of his exposed infantry, to be sur-
rounded, slain, and captured.

The leonine courage of Stephen was brilliantly
displayed in the ensuing conflict.  Although
victory was hopeless, he conducted the defence
with great skill, and by his heroism and general-
ship, delayed the moment of defeat. At length,
he fought almost alone, his soldiers being
scattered or captured, and his enemies hemming
him in on every side, yet, despite their personal
enmity, showing a disposition rather to capture
than to slay the king. In the heat of the melée,
his battle-axe was shivered and cast aside ; his
sword was next broken, and, whilst defending
himself with his truncheon, he was struck by a
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appears to be just cause for the suspicion of
treachery.

Wendoer, in his “ Flowers of History,” has the
following account of the battle :

“ Meanwhile, King Stephen heard mass with
much devotion, and when, in the course of the
ceremony, he put into the hands of Bishop
Alexander the royal wax taper as the usual
offering to God, it was suddenly broken and ex-
tinguished, which foreboded sorrow to the king ;
the eucharist also fell upon the altar, together
with Christ’s body, by reason of the string break-
ing, and this was an omen of the king’s ruin.
Stephen, on foot, disposed his troops with much
care, and industriously arranged around himself
all his men in armour, without their horses; but
he arranged all his Earls, with their horses, to
fight in two bodies. The army of the rebel earls
was very small, whilst that of the king was
numerous, and united under one standard. At
the beginning of the battle, the exiles, who
were in the van, charged the king’s army, in
which were Earl Allan, Robert, Earl de Mellent,
Hugh Bigod, the Earl of East Anglia, Earl
Simon, and the Earl of Warenne, with such fury
that some of them were slain, some taken












“Lincoln JFair.”

By Epwarp LaAMPLOUGH.

HEN King John ended his days at
Newark, in the October of 1215, the
crown descended to his son Henry, a child aged
ten years, who was crowned at Gloucester, in the
presence of the few barons who remained loyal to
the Plantagenets. The papal-legate exacted from
the young prince the act of homage to the holy
see, and the nobles having sworn fealty to the
boy king, he was placed in the charge of Earl
Pembroke, the regent of the Kingdom.

The loyal barons were few, and the numerous
mercenaries who had been introduced into the
kingdom by John were not likely to maintain
their fidelity in the face of possible reverses, and
inducements that might be held out to them by
the Anglo-French party.

The confederate barons, in their desperate
attempts to make head against the mercenary

armies of King John, had offered the crown to
M
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were assailed by the archers, who, in comparative
safety, shot down their horses, and with their
keen bolts wounded and slew the riders. Thus
the confusion increased, and the loss of life
waxed very heavy. DBaflled and disheartened,
the troops of Louis maintained the conflict for
some time, the Count of Perche manfully exert-
ing himself to restore the battle, and retrieve his
fault; but the gallant Royalists acquitted them-
selves with temper and spirit, beat down the
French on all sides, and slew the Count of Perche,
who declined the proffered quarter, “in mere
pride and petulance, swearing he would not
surrender to any English traitor.” Other good
knights were wiser ; Gilbert de Ghent, Robert
Fitz-Walter, the Earls of Winchester and Here-
ford, surrended their swords, together with 400
knights, and a multitude of esquires, men-at-
arms, and infantry.

The national animus was unsparingly exhibited
to the French soldiery, who were put to the
sword with merciless severity, nor was the
disloyal adherence of the burghers of Lincoln to
the cause of Prince Louis allowed to pass
unpunished. The city was pillaged with un-
sparing severity, and the soldiery obtained so
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rich a booty that they distinguished the deed of
spoliation and revenge by the title of “ Lincoln
Fair.”

The priestly adherents of Louis who were
stationed in Lincoln were treated, by the legate’s
commands, with the severities due to excommuni-
cated offenders. The ban that condemned the
disloyal to punishment, formed a striking contrast
to the favours conferred upon the loyal troops,
the legate having confessed and absolved the
leaders, and encouraged the valour of all, by
declaring Paradise open to those who fell while
combating in the interests of the tiara and the
crown, on that auspicious day.

In describing military achievements during the
middle ages, the loss of the soldiery is not always
enumerated, so little were they regarded in
comparison with the nobles, and this peculiarity
appears to have led to the following misapprehen-
sion, with its amusing reflections, quoted from
Hume and Smollett’s history :

“ Lincoln was delivered over to be pillaged ; the -
French army was totally routed; the Count of
Perche, with only two persons more, was killed ;
but many of the chief commanders, and about
400 knights, were made prisoners by the English.
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the Royalist leader being temporarily absent.
On the following day, July 2nd, however, the
fight began betimes ; the right wing of the Royal
army was vigorously assailed by the troopers of
Moody of Seremby, and Payne of Burgh, and
completely routed; numbers perished in the
swamp, and the scattered remnant was met at
Willoughby by Rossiter, advancing from Burgh,
and practically annihilated. The battle was not
so easily won in the rest of the field, but at last
the whole position was carried by the Earl of
Manchester’'s forces, the Royalists being
scattered with great slaughter.

Cavendish got safely away, but Sir William
Hanby was among the slain, and his Hall was
partially destroyed. -The fragment of a regiment
serving under Colonel Penruddock took refuge
in the parish church, and here, as in so many
other instances, the Puritans sullied their victory
by the exhibition of their barbarity; not only
did the sacred walls prove no City of Refuge for
the vanquished, but the completed victory was
signalised by the destruction of almost everything
which they contained. Of this desecration, a
relic is still to be seen: the tracery of the
north and south windows of the Sacrarium
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with a gallant array of nobles, knights, and men-
at-arms, crossed the Humber (April, A.p. 1300) at
Barton, landing at Hessle, the King being on his
way to Scotland, the thinly-scattered, though
brave and rugged, defenders of which gallant
country could not save it from devastation by their
more powerful neighbour. The passage across
the Humber occupied two days, an item of the
expenses stating : “ Galfrid de Selby and other
sailors of the eleven barges and boats for carrying
the King’s military equipment and household
from Barton to Hessle, across the Humber,
occupying two days, by the hands of the same
sailors at Hessle, 27th May, 13s.” Doubtless the
abbots and monks of the famous Abbey of
Thornton, when travelling to or from the sacred
shrines of York or Beverley, as well as many a
cavalcade of pilgrims, would pass and repass at
this ancient ferry. A gloomier episode in its
history is perhaps worth noting. It being at that
early day the only passage from the south to the
Sanctuary of St. John of Beverley, the man-
slayer (whether by accident or design) would make
for the old ferry, and would, to escape the
vengeance of his pursuers, seek sanctuary and
safety within the sacred bounds, A case of this

L
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kind is chronicled, where “one Elias de la Hill, of
Barton, struck Richard de la Hill, of the same
place,” finding refuge within the holy precincts of
the Beverley Saint.

In the first week of July, 1643, Lord
(Ferdinando) Fairfax was in full retreat from
Leeds to Hull, being pursued by the Royalists
under the Earl of Newecastle; the old lord
crossed the Ouse at Selby, his gallant son, Sir
Thomas (afterwards, as Lord Fairfax, the famous
Parliamentary leader), taking the post of danger
in the rear. On the point of embarking their
cavalry, the Royalist horse were upon them.
The father crossed with the main body in safety,
but the son, Sir Thomas, became separated,
having received a bullet through the wrist. He
would have fallen from his horse through loss of

blood, had not some of his troopers caught him

as he fell, and laid him on the grass. He shortly
recovered from the temporary faintness, and
remounted, making the best of his way along the
right bank, at length crossing the Trent. Ac-
companying his flight, seated on a horse before
her nurse, was his “little daughter Moll,” at that
time about five years of age. These defenceless

companions added greatly to Fairfax’s anxiety,
N
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occupier of the interesting old edifice, which was
demolished during the second decade of this
century, was a Mr. Richard Willford, a fresh-
looking, venerable, white-haired man, the great-
grandfather of Mr. Ball, the publisher of the
“ History of Barton,” from which the illustration
is taken. In Mr. Willford’s day, the house con-
tained some fine old carved furniture, and the
view from its windows was (with the exception of
a barn-like building, used at times for public
meetings) uninterrupted over the open fields
down to the Humber, which, long years before,
had retreated to its present bounds.

The Humber must have once flowed higher
than at present, as a paddock in the East Acridge
was called Shrimpholme, and here fishermen used
to dry their nets. A field also in this vicinity
bore the name of Sedge Close, showing its
original proximity to water. Some years ago a
large mound of earth was removed from the same
locality. It had evidently been a sea or river
embankment, as large quantities of marine shells
were discovered during the excavations.

The old building now known as the “ Water-
side Inn,” standing in close proximity to
the landing-place on the Humber, although
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was bad, but we cross'd it in a good barg to
Barton, the first towne in that part of
Lincolnshire.”

In 1779, a breathless horseman, mounted on an
equally breathless steed, startled the king’s quiet
lieges at Barton by riding inadly through the
town towards the Waterside, when his horse
dropped lifeless beneath him. Without noticing

OLD FERRY-BOAT HOUSF, BARTON-ON-HUMBER.

the poor animal he rushed to the ferry and
demanded instant passage; the ferrymen said it
was impossible, it being what they termed “ dead
low water.” The stranger thereupon drew a
pistol, and threatened the poor men’s lives if they
did not comply with what appeared to them so
unreasonable an order. They thereupon procured
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a large washing-tub, and slid the impetuous rider,
whose uniform betokened a man in authority, down
the mud, or warp, to the water’s edge, and quickly
put him over the Humber, landing him at Dairy-
coates, where he again, in the same unceremonious
manner, seized a horse from a plough, and
galloped posthaste towards Hull. It afterwards
turned out that he was a King’s Messenger, with
instructions to the governor of the citadel to put
that place in a state of defence, in anticipation of
a visit from that daring sea-rover, Paul Jones,
who, with his victorious squadron, was then
hovering off the mouth of the Humber.

Another famous character, Charles Dibdin, the
seamen’s poet, writing in 1788, says:—* On the
fourth of November, falling on a Sunday, and
being exactly ninety-nine years since the memor-
able Revolution, the wind being almost due north,
very strong and squally, accompanied with a
severe and incessant rain, I set sail from Hull to
Barton. Nor is all this preparation unworthy
the occasion. I am sure I shall endure nothing
in my voyage to India that will exceed what I
thus experienced, for if it did we should be past
all endurance.” After an amusing account of the

“middle passage,” he concludes— After our poor
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sloop had been buffeted three hours and forty
minutes, during which she above a hundred times
as fairly dived as ever did a duck, our sailors were
so kind as to run us aground at the mouth of
Barton Harbour.” Truly ¢“ Rude Boreas ” should
have behaved better to the great Sea-Songster.

In 1802, a Mr. Shaw rode from Barton Water-
side to London, 172 miles, in ten hours and thirty-
three minutes. This must have been accomplished
by a relay of horses, and good ones too.

In coaching days, the Royal mail usually
arrived at the Waterside about eleven p.m.;
according to the state of wind and tide, travellers
might have to wait at the inn, eight, ten, or even
twelve hours before they could cross the Humber ;
The huge kitchen fire of the inn was never
allowed to go out, day or night, from year’s end
to year’s end, except for necessary repairs..
Passengers on very urgent business might cross
the Humber (weather permitting) at a charge of
7s. 6d. each. The mails for the town of Barton
were in charge of an odd character, whose sobriquet
was Skitter Jack. This free and easy individual,
on hot summer daYs, might frequently be seen
fast asleep on a gravel heap, on the road ’twixt
the Waterside Inn and the George Inn (the then
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William Dodd was born at Bourne, in Lincoln-
shire, on the 29th of May, 1729. His father
was the Rev. William Dodd, vicar of Bourne.
Besides the notorious William, there was one
other son, named Richard, who also became a
clergyman, but as he aspired to nothing more
remarkable than working hard in a country
parish all his life-time, his biography has never
been written. The natures of the two brothers
were widely different, and it was probably from
this cause that they held very little inter-
course with each other in after-life. The ‘“dear
pale face” of an affectionate father watched
assiduously over the early years of the two boys.
At the age of sixteen William left home and
was entered at Cambridge, where he matriculated
a Sizar of Clare Hall, on the 22nd March, 1746.
This precocious youth undoubtedly worked hard
while at college, for it is on record that he
attracted notice by his diligence and success. In
1749, he took the degree of B.A. with reputation,
but ten years elapsed before he blossomed into
the usual M.A. Already he had begun to write
pamphlets, and also to develop an ever-increasing
taste for a gay life. The calls of duty and

pleasure for a time received equal attention, but
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Ely, at Caius College, and settled down as
Curate to the Vicar of West Ham.

The Reverend William Dodd for a time worked
zealously in this new sphere of life, and won the
esteem of many with whom his duties brought
him into contact. In after years, he always
looked back with pleasure to the happy days
spent at West Ham. Two vacant lectureships
now fell into his-hands, and, on the opening of
the Magdalen Hospital, on the 10th of August,
1758, Dodd, who had taken a great interest in
the undertaking, was chosen to preach the
inaugural sermon in Charlotte Street Chapel,
Bloomsbury. He soon slipped into the
chaplaincy of this popular Charity in an
honorary capacity, but, in 1763, he was officially
appointed to the post at a salary of a hundred
guineas per annum. His sermons at the Mag-
dalen speedily became the sensation of the day,
and every Sunday, crowds of fashionable ladies
journeyed from the West End to hear the hand-
some young clergyman, who so gracefully played
upon their feelings.

Young William Dodd was now well on his way
to fame and fortune. In the year of his appoint-

ment to the Magdalen Chaplaincy, he received
o)
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pecuniarily interested in Charlotte Chapel,
Bloomsbury, where he occasionally preached, but
he rarely missed his Sunday morning sermon at
the Magdalen.

It was not until 1772 that Dr. Dodd obtained
his first cure of souls, when he was presented to
the rectory of Hockliffe, in Bedfordshire, to
which was shortly afterwards added the Vicarage
of Chalgrove. He was now in the zenith of his
fame as a popular preacher.

In February, 1774, by the translation of
Bishop Moss to the See of Bath and Wells, the
valuable living of St. George’s, Hanover Square,
became vacant, and Dodd set about the execution
of a foolish and mad-brained scheme to secure the
presentation for himself. An anonymous letter
was, at his instigation, addressed to Lady Apsley,
offering £3000 down if a gentleman, to be after-
wards named, received the appointment. With
very little trouble the letter was traced to Dr.
Dodd, and the king, in a fit of indignation, at
once erased his name from his list of Chaplains.
A storm of invective, satire, and abuse followed,
in the midst of which the wily Doctor left the
country. But the worst was to come. Foote

was, at this time, engaged in writing his farce
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Dodd himself, and the signature of a broker
named Robertson was also appended as a witness.
The sum of £4000 was now paid over for the
bond, and later on the document was brought
under the notice of Lord Chesterfield. It was,
of course, repudiated by his lordship, and the
principals were at once placed under arrest.
Dodd now realised his critical position, but when
he had restored nearly the whole of the money
he began to feel himself comparatively safe. The
‘case was, however, by a curious combination of
circumstances, forced into prominence, and the
hapless Doctor found himself committed to the
Compter to await his trial.

The story was by this time all over London,
and newspaper men and ballad-mongers gloated
over the details.

On the 19th of February, Dr. Dodd appeared
at the bar of the Old Bailey, and, after an
exhaustive consideration of his case, the jury,
while strongly recommending him to mercy, were
constrained to bring in a verdict of “Guilty.”
He lay in Newgate until the 26th of May, when
he was brought forth to receive sentence, after
which he was again conveyed back to prison.
Here he was shown every indulgence—a private
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to its lowest depths, and everybody signed
petitions praying for his respite. One petition
alone contained 23,000 signatures, and was over
thirty-seven yards long; another was presented
by the Lord Mayor and Common Council in a
body.

All, however, was of no avail, for on the 15th
of June the Privy Council met, and, after due
deliberation, virtually decreed that Dodd must
die. Accordingly, a warrant was made out for
him to be publicly hanged on the 27th. The few
remaining days of his life can only be likened to
a miserable orgie. Friends were coming and
going all the time, and while some held out hopes
of escape, or even rescue, others less sanguine
wept.with him over his sad fate. Looking back
to these critical moments in Dr. Dodd’s life, we
behold him in turn firm, penitent, unmanned,
ostentatiously pious, and hideously unreal. On
the last day of his life he wrote a drivelling letter
to his friend and amanuensis, Weedon Butler,
whose faith in him never wavered; and he also
penned a reply to an earnest and manly exhorta-
tion which he had received from Dr. Johnson.
All through the day he was kept in a continuous
fever of alternate hope and despair by the
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shower of rain, the doctor was placed upon the
cart. He is described as appearing ¢ stupid from
despair,” and with face turned downwards praying
all the time. The final preparations took up-
wards of an hour to complete, and this made the
crowd somewhat impatient. At length every-
thing was ready, the rope adjusted, his broad-
brimmed hat and wig exchanged for.a night-cap,
and all his leave-takings over. His last act was
to place money in the hands of the executioner,
and then to whisper earnestly in his ear. What
he saild was never known. The cart on which
he stood moved from under his feet, and in a
couple of minutes all was over.

After hé,nging the usual time, the body was cut
down and handed to the waiting friends. A hot
bath had been prepared in a house not far away,
and here John Hunter was in attendance to try
his hand at restoring life. Owing, however, to the
bigness of the crowd, precious minutes, and even
hours, were lost before the body arrived,
and by this time all hope of revivification was
gone.

The same night, Dodd’s faithful friend, Weedon
Butler, had the body taken down to Cowley, in
Middlesex, for interment, and there, on the north
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with the winn, gorse, or furze, is one of the most
beautiful flowering bushes we possess. Prior to
the great enclosures, about a century ago, of the
open lands in this county, hawthorn trees were
dotted over the grazing lands, as may still be
seen in the old deer parks of our nobility, and
the one at Fishtofts is, no doubt, a solitary
survival or representative of this old order of
things.

As a quick hedge, the hawthorn has been used
in this country in partitioning the toft-steads or
home-crofts from the open fields or unenclosed
lands, for over a thousand years, and it derives
its name, haw, from the Anglo-Saxon haw, a
yard or enclosure. Chaucer uses churche-hawe,
for churchyard. The hawthorn is thus the
enclosure-thorn, a name drawn from the popular
use to which it was in early times applied.

It is generally thought . that in primitive times
the eastern counties were largely covered with
this thorn, and it is certain that the frequent
mention of thorn in place-names lends support to
this view, instance Thorne, in Hatfield Chase,
near Doncaster, Thornton Abbey, in our county,
Thorngumbald, Whitethornsea (now Withernsea),
Whitethornwick (now Withernwick) in Holder-
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it would be well worth their while to take into
consideracon the state of the Parochial Library
where there were some valuable Editions of the
best authors in no very good condicon and they
did accordingly agree to contribute towards the
repairing the old and adding new books to it, but
being by ye two worst enemies to understanding,
Ignorance and Indolence prevented doing much
for it. They turned their beneficial intrution
towards the royal and ffree Grammar School in
which there was at that time a large but Empty
Desk capable of being made a press or Class on
weh ye One only solitary Volume then belonging
to the School lay (viz:) Langius Polyantheea
bestow’d upon it by Sir John Oldfield Bart. some
years before and to this These Geentlemen did now
voluntarily add several other Authors in
Gramatical, Critical or Classick learning, wch
was to ye great pleasure and convenience of the
worthy Master.”

In March, 1711, the Spectator came out, and
was duly read here as the Zatler had been, and
the next year these gentlemen formed themselves
into a voluntary society for the “ Supporting
mutual benevolence and their improvement in the

liberal sciences and polite learning.” The Rev.
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Stephen Lyon, minister of Spalding, was elected
president for the first month. He was succeeded
by William Ambler, Esq., Rev. — Wareing, and
Maurice Johnson, Esq., father of the founder.
In April Mr. Lyon was again elected. Finding
inconvenience arise from the frequent changes, it
was then decided that the president should con-
tinue in office until the society thought fit to
choose another quamdiu se bene gesserit.

This year the society took in the Lay Monk
and Memoirs of ILiterature. Afterwards, such
portions as were not political in the Freethinker
and the Spyes were read. Papers, essays, letters,
and exhibits now became abundant, and the
society added annually to its list of regular and
honorary members some of the most learned men
of the day. We find the names of Sir Isaac
Newton, Sir Hans Sloane, the Earl of Oxford,
the two Gales, Dr. Stukeley, the poets Gay and
Pope, the painters Vertue and Collins, Beaupre
Bell, Dr. Jurin, Dr. Massey, Archdeacon Neve,
Joseph Banks (the father of Sir Joseph Banks),
Samuel Wesley, Dr. Bentley (master of the
Grammar School at Spalding, who was quickly pre-
ferred thence to the mastership of Trinity College,
Cambridge), William Bogdani, Samuel Buck (the
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engraver), Lord Coloraine (Pres. Soc. Antiq.),
Dr. Dodd, Emanuel Mendez du Costa, Dositheus
(Archimandrite, abbot of the Monastery of
Pantocratoras, on Mount Athos), Martin Folkes,
Captain John Perry (engineer to Czar Peter the
Great), Archdeacon Sharp, Rev. Richard
Southgate, Thomas Sympson (of Lincoln),
Chancellor Taylor, Browne Willis, John Grundy
(engineer), and many others of note far too
numerous to catalogue.

Up to the present time, the various acts and
regulations of the society had been recorded by
Maurice Johnson, who, for many years, acted as
secretary, on sheets of paper, which, at a sub-
sequent date, were bound together, and entitled
the First Volume of Minutes, or the ¢ Institution
Book.” The first entry of original research is
entered on November 10th, 1712. It is a sketch
of “the forme of a Tomb in the cemetery of the
Cathedral Church in Peterborough, in the county
of Northton, on the South Side, near the Choir.”

At the next meeting, held on November 17th,
Mr. Maurice Johnson, Junr., communicated to
the society, ¢ two copies of verses from the Rev.
Francis Curtis, the one an Epistle from a gentle-
man at Eaton to his friend at Cambridge, in
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position seldom if ever equalled by any similar
society in a provincial town, but then, as now,
extraneous assistance was necessary to sustain
the interest of its members, and to maintain its
prosperity.  Papers were contributed, books
given, interesting letters written, and curiosities
exhibited by many who were not resident in our
neighbourhood, and we still keep, with religious
care, an immense amount of correspondence
with such men as the Gales, Stukeley, Earl of
Oxford, Beaupre Bell, and others. But let it
never be forgotten, that Maurice Johnson con-
tinued to the end of his life, in 1755, to be the
mainstay of the society. As long as he lived
the society prospered. Most interesting items
occur in the minute books, which were written
principally by him, and illustrated profusely by
his hand; he added some of its most valuable
books to the library, and considerably enriched
its museum. Alas! shortly after his death, a
change comes over the scene; the society con-
tinued to meet weekly, and accounts of its weekly
and yearly receipts and expenditure were duly
kept, but the minute-book ceased to be used;
little or nothing was added to the library; the
Physic garden given up; and the museum went
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to decay, until at length nearly every specimen
was cleared out!

After the lapse of seventy years, Dr. Moore
having been elected president in 1828, again
resumed the use of the minute-book, and a few
interesting essays were, at long intervals, entered
therein. Dr. Cammack and Canon Moore
followed in his footsteps, but the society was
evidently all but moribund. No meeting is
recorded, nor can any member call to mind .any
meeting held from April 26th, 1875, until after
Canon Moore’s death, in May, 1889. At that
time its library, museum, and furniture, were in
a most filthy state, from the accumulation of
dust, and it was but rarely that a member
ventured into the room to consult a book,
studying therein being an act of most severe
penance. Still, in fulfilment of Gale’s prophecy,
the library remained “a glorious monument of
the public spirit and learning of its founder, and
the record of a noble attempt, which, otherwise,
could scarcely be credited by posterity.”

On July 15th, 1889, a meeting of the remaining
members was held, and it was decided that an
earnest effort should be made to revivify the
society. Dr. Perry was elected president, and
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to determine the force of the gale, he jumped in
opposite directions, both against and with the
wind, marking and measuring the respective
distances.  This experiment he repeated on a
subsequent calm day, and was thus able to form
some conception of the force of the wind.

The following incident of his schooldays is
recorded. Having received a kick from a boy
who stood higher in the class, Newton, although
less robust, challenged him to fight. In the
result Newton gained the victory, but he
aspired to the moral as well as to the physical
superiority. e therefore exerted himself to
attain a higher place in school than his opponent.
This he soon succeeded in doing, and continued
to rise until he held the first position.

Woolsthorpe Manor House was rebuilt between
the years 1645 and 1656 by Isaac’s stepfather,
the Rev. Barnabas Smith, Rector of North
Witham. Dr. Stukeley, who visited the house
on 13th October, 1721, while Sir Isaac was yet
alive, described 1t thus: “It is built of stone,
as is the way of the country hereabouts, and a
reasonable good one.” When it was undergoing
repairs In 1798, a tablet of white marble was
erected, bearing an inscription as follows:
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the most notable in his history. It was just at
this period that he discovered, and commenced
his work on, the method of Fluxions; that,
driven home by the Plague, which closed the
Universities for a while, his attention was first, or
at least more particularly directed to the law of
gravitation; and that, having procured a glass
prism, “to try therewith the phenomena of
colours,” he made those experiments and arrived
at those conclusions which attracted the notice of
learned men to his genius. Certain it is that at
this period of his life his mind was intensely
active, and his attention wholly concentrated on,
and absorbed in, his investigations.

The vigour of his intellect may be judged by
the fact that he needed only to look at Euclid
at once to grasp and thoroughly comprehend the
various problems propounded. In order to
prepare himself for the lectures which he
attended, his habit was to read the text books in
advance, and when the time arrived he frequently
knew more of the subject than his tutors. It is
related of him that, in later years, he received
the famous problem intended to puzzle European
mathematicians, at five o’clock in the day, after

having completed his business labours, and,
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practical grinding of glasses, with a view to the
improvement of instruments then in use. While
engaged in this study, he was led to the discovery
of the decomposition -of light and the re-
frangibility of its component rays. Piercing
a hole in the window shutter he admitted into the
darkened room a single beam of light, which,
falling on a prism, displayed the seven colours of
the prismatic spectrum. By re-uniting the
separated rays he again produced white light.
For a special reason, he deferred, until 1704, the
publication of his work entitled ‘ Opticks, or a
Treatise on the Reflexions, Refractions, In-
flexions, and Colours of Light.” For many long
years the merit of this extraordinary work was
not fully appreciated.

Owing to his natural modesty, and to the dis-
tressing controversies which followed the
announcement of his discoveries, he was exceed-
ingly slow to declare the result of his investigations.
The delay thus occasioned very largely contributed
to the later disputes in which other men sought to
secure for themselves the merit of his labours.

The crowning event of Newton’s life was his
discovery of the law of universal gravity, for

while others had been on the verge of ascertain-
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at the genius and wisdom of those who, even after
a mature experienée of forty or fifty years, attain
world-wide renown, but with how much greater
wonder and admiration shall we regard a mere
stripling in age who proves himself to be a very
prince amongst philosophers, and in the very
front rank of distinguished mathematicians !

When James II., in his vain attempt to re-
establish the Roman Catholic religion, attacked
the privileges of the University of Cambridge,
Newton was selected as one of the delegates to
defend them. He was afterwards chosen a
member of the Convention Parliament.

Endeavours were made by friends to secure
some public position for Newton, but for a time
these were unsuccessful. In 1696, however,
when the coinage was to be recalled, he was
appointed Warden of the Mint, through the
influence of Mr. Charles Montague, afterwards
Earl of Halifax. From 1699 he fulfilled the
higher duties of Master of the Mint, receiving a
salary of from £1200 to £1500 a year. In these
positions, his knowledge of chemistry and
metallurgy, as profound as his knowledge of
mathematics, proved of immense service to the
State.
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James, Philip, Postmaster, Brough, East Yorks.
Jeans, Rev. 8 E., Shorwell Vicarage, Isle of Wight.

Kelsey, S., Morton, Gainsborough.
Kingston, Samuel, ¥.s.1., Auctioneer, Spalding (2 copies).

Laking, C., Hornsea.

Lambden, Miss, Old Vicarage, Burgh.

Laurence, Walesby, Rectory, Market Rasen.

Lee, R. Fred, Gonerby House, Grantham.

Lincoln, Right Rev. Lord Bishop of (Dr. King), The Palace, Lincoln.
Lincoln, Very Rev. the Dean of (Dr. Butler).

Lincoln Co-operative Society, Silver Street.

Lincoln Mechanics’ Institute, per J. H. H. Perkyns.

Lloyd, Rev. J. G., Bosherston Rectory, Pembroke.

Locock, Major E., South Elkington, Louth.

Loft, Rev. J. E. Wallis, Swallow Rectory, Caistor.

London National Liberal Club, Arthur W, Hutton, Librarian.
Love, Rev. J. Garlon, 8. Agnes Vicarage, Liverpool.

Macdonald, Rev. G. W., m.a., St. Mark’s Vicarage, Holbeach.
Macdonald, Dr. John, Woolsthorpe, Grantham.

Mackinder, Herbert, Mere Hall, Lincoln.

Maddison, Rev. A. R., Vicar’s Court, Lincoln.

Maddison, Ernest, Hagworthingham, Lincolnshire,

Markham, Geo., The Hubits, St. Martin’s, Guernsey.

Marsden, W. J., Gainsborough.

Mason, Jas. Eardley, The Sycamores, Alford,

M‘Cormick, Rev. Frederic H. J., ¥.s.A. Scot., St. George’s, Derby.
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Melville-Leslie, A. H., D’Isney Place, Lincoln.

Michelson, Henry, 1, Broad Street, Stamford.

Mills, Robert M., Bourne.

Mills, W. H., County Alderman, Spalding (2 copies).

Milsg?,‘ ’é{ichard Henry, n.p., 88, Finchley Road, South Hampstead,
4N .

Mitchell, Thomas J., Stamford, Spalding, and Boston Bank, Bourne.

Moor, Rev. C., The Vicarage, Barton-on-Humber.

Moor, Wm.,, 1, Cavendish Street, Great Grimsby.

Morton, Dr. J., Eastgate House, Guildford.

Munkman, J. H., 16, Commercial Street, Leeds.

Nelson, Miss, Biscathorpe House, Louth.
Newcastle Public Library, per W. J. Haggerston, Chief Librarian.
Newcomb, J. M., Bookseller, Boston (2 copies).

Parker, John, Ingleby, Lincoln.

Patchett, John, Mildred House, Undercliffe Lane, Bradford, Yorks.
Pearson, Rev. W. J., Ardwick Lodge, Beverley Road, Hull.
Peet, Henry, 97, Mount Pleasant, Liverpool.

Phillips, Joseph, Stamford.

Phillips, Moro, Westgate House, Chichester (2 copies).
Pickering, Alfred, 19 and 20, Aldgate, London.

Pheasant, Charles, Crowle.

Pocklington-Coltman, Mrs., Hagnaby Priory, Spilsby.
Pretty, William, St. Thomas Road, Spalding.

Pretyman, Ernest G., Orwell Park, Ipswich.

Price, C., Esq., Westward Ho, N. Devon.

Proctor, G. T., Bruce Grove, Tottenham, Middlesex.

Pyke, Charles, Swaton, Folkingham.

Quirk, John J., Leigh, Lancashire.

Randall, Joseph, Bank Chambers, George Street, Sheffield (2 copies).

Rawnsley, W. F., Park Hill, Lyndhurst, Hants.

Reeve, Captain N. H., Ashby Hall, Lincoln.

Roberts, D., Scrafield House, near Horncastle.

Roberts, W. B., Manor House, Hampton-on-Thames.

Robinson, Tom, M.p., 9, Princes Street, Cavendish Square, N.

Ross, Frederick, F.r.H.s., 137, Huddleston Road, Tufnel Park,
London.

Rowles, J. L., National School, Cleethorpes.

Roy, W. Gascoigne, Byams, Marchwood, Hants.

Royce, Rev. David, Nether Swell Vicarage, Stow-on-the-Wold,
Gloucestershire.

Rushworth, J., Allbrighton, Wolverhampton.

Ruston, J., Monk’s Manor, Lincoln.

Sammons, Rev. R. T., Saxilby Vicarage, Lincoln.
Saunders, Rev. J. C. K., Brookside, Market Rasen.
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